JS-6

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

CIVIL MINUTES - GENERAL

Case No.	CV-16-00862-RGK (JCx)	Date	October 19, 2016
Title	DotConnectAfrica Trust v. Internet Corporation for Numbers	Assigne	d Names and

Present: The Honorable	R. GARY KLAUSNER, U.S. DISTRICT JUDGE			
Sharon L. Williams (Not Present)		Not Reported	N/A	
Deputy Clerk		Court Reporter / Recorder	Tape No.	
Attorneys Present for Plaintiffs: Not Present		Attorneys Present for Defendants: Not Present		

Proceedings: (IN CHAMBERS) Order re: ZA Central Registry's Motion to Intervene (DE 122)

I. <u>INTRODUCTION</u>

On February 26, 2016, Plaintiff DotConnectAfrica Trust ("DCA") filed a First Amended Complaint against Defendants Internet Corporation for Assigned Names and Numbers ("ICANN"), and ZA Central Registry ("ZACR"). Plaintiff alleges the following claims: (1) Breach of Contract; (2) Intentional Misrepresentation; (3) Negligent Misrepresentation; (4) Fraud & Conspiracy to Commit Fraud; (5) Unfair Competition (Violation of Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §17200); (6) Negligence; (7) Intentional Interference with Contract; (8) Confirmation of IRP Award; (9) Declaratory Relief (that ICANN follow the IRP Declaration and allow the DCA application to proceed through the delegation phase of the application process); (10) Declaratory Relief (that the Registry Agreement between ZACR and ICANN be declared null and void and that ZACR's application does not meet ICANN standards); and (11) Declaratory Relief (that the covenant not to sue is unenforceable, unconscionable, procured by fraud and/or void as a matter of law and public policy).

On June 14, 2016, the Court granted ZACR's Motion to Dismiss as to all claims alleged against ZACR in its entirety, thereby extinguishing ZACR as a party to the action.

Currently before the Court is ZACR's Motion to Intervene as a matter of right under Rule 24(a) or permissively under Rule 24(b). For the following reasons, the Court **GRANTS** in part the motion.

II. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

On February 26, 2016, DCA filed a First Amended Complaint against Defendants. The action arises out of a dispute involving the delegation of rights related to the .Africa top-level domain.

Defendant ICANN is the sole organization worldwide that assigns rights to Generic Top-level Domains ("gTLDs"). In 2011, ICANN approved the expansion of the number of gTLDs available to eligible applicants as part of its 2012 Generic Top-Level Domains Internet Expansion Program. ICANN invited eligible parties to submit applications to obtain the rights to these various gTLDs. In March 2012, DCA submitted an application to ICANN to obtain the rights to the .Africa gTLD. DCA paid ICANN the mandatory application fee of \$185,000. On February 17, 2014, ZACR also submitted an application for .Africa.

In October 2012, DCA challenged ICANN's processing of its application and response to an independent review conducted at DCA's request. DCA alleges that instead of allowing DCA's application to proceed through the delegation phase as mandated by the review panel, ICANN restarted DCA's application from the beginning. In February 2016, ICANN denied DCA's application. Shortly thereafter, ICANN began the processing of delegating .Africa to ZACR.

On March 4, 2016, the Court granted DCA's Ex Parte Application for TRO, enjoining ICANN from issuing the .Africa top-level domain until the Court decided DCA's Motion for Preliminary Injunction. On April 12, 2016, the Court granted DCA's Motion for Preliminary Injunction, keeping the injunction in place until resolution of the action.

On April 26, 2016, ZACR filed a Motion to Dismiss on all claims asserted against it. On May 6, 2016, ZACR filed a Motion for Reconsideration regarding the Court's Order re Preliminary Injunction. ICANN joined the motion on May 10, 2016. On June 14, 2016, the Court granted ZACR's Motion to Dismiss in its entirety, thereby extinguishing ZACR as a party to the action. On June 20, 2016, the Court denied as moot ZACR's Motion for Reconsideration, and addressed the motion only as it pertained to ICANN. The Court denied ICANN's Motion for Reconsideration.

III. JUDICIAL STANDARD

Two types of intervention are available under Rule 24: (a) intervention of right, and (b) permissive intervention. Fed. R. Civ. P. 24(a)–(b). Intervention of right is governed by Rule 24(a), which states that on timely motion, the court must permit anyone to intervene who:

Claims an interest relating to the property or transaction that is the subject of the action, and is so situated that disposing of the action may as a practical matter impair or impede the movant's ability to protect its interest, unless existing parties adequately represent that interest.

Fed. R. Civ. P. 24(a)(2). Permissive intervention under Rule 24(b) gives the Court the discretion to grant intervention if a party has a claim or defense that shares a common question of law or fact with the main action, as long as intervention will not unduly delay or prejudice the existing parties. *See* Fed. R. Civ. P. 24(b).

A court deciding a motion to intervene must accept as true all non-conclusory allegations in the motion. *Sw. Ctr. For Biological Diversity v. Berg*, 268 F.3d 810, 820 (9th Cir. 2001). Proposed intervenors, however, bear the burden of establishing that the requirements of Rule 24 are satisfied. *Petrol Stops Nw. v. Cont'l Oil Co.*, 647 F.2d 1005, 1010 n.5 (9th Cir. 1981).

VI. <u>DISCUSSION</u>

In its Complaint, DCA asserts claims for Declaratory Relief. The Ninth Claim seeks a declaration that ICANN follow the IRP Declaration and allow the DCA application to proceed through the delegation phase of the application process. The Tenth Claim seeks a declaration that the agreement delegating .Africa rights to ZACR is null and void. ZACR moves to intervene as to both of these claims as a matter of right under Rule 24(a), or alternatively, for permissive intervention under Rule 24(b).

A. <u>Intervention</u>

Based on Rule 24(a), the Ninth Circuit has outlined four requirements for intervention of right. The applicant must: (1) file a timely application, (2) possess a "significantly protectable" interest relating to the property or transaction that is the subject of the action, (3) be so situated that the disposition of the action may as a practical matter impair or impede its ability to protect that interest, and (4) be inadequately represented by existing parties. *California ex rel. Lockyear v. United States*, 450 F.3d 436, 441 (9th Cir. 2006) (citing *Sierra Club v. E.P.A.*, 995 F.3d 1478, 1481 (9th Cir. 1993)).

As to the first requirement, the Court finds that ZACR's motion to intervene is timely. The case is still in the early stages. Discovery has just begun, and no depositions have been taken. Trial is not scheduled until February 2017. Further, there is no evidence of undue delay. ZACR brought the present motion not long after dismissal from the case and after appealing the Court's preliminary injunction and reconsideration orders in June. In addition, ICANN and DCA do not oppose ZACR's motion to intervene, and there is no indication of prejudice to existing parties.

Regarding the second requirement, a significantly protectable interest exists if "(1) [the proposed intervenor] asserts an interest that is protected under some law, and (2) there is a 'relationship' between its legally protected interest and the plaintiff's claims." *Donnelly v. Glickman*, 159 F.3d 405, 409 (9th Cir. 1998). "An applicant generally satisfies [the second] 'relationship' requirement only if the resolution of the [plaintiff's] claims *actually will affect* the applicant." *Id.* at 410 (emphasis added). Here, the allegations show that ZACR and ICANN entered into a ten-year Registry Agreement on March 24, 2014. (ZACR's Mem. P. & A. In Supp. Of Mot. To Intervene 7:14-15, ECF No. 122-1.) DCA's Tenth Claim bears directly on that agreement. As such, the Court finds that ZACR possesses a significant protectable interest in the Tenth claim. As to the Ninth Claim, however, the allegations show that ZACR did not play a role in the independent review decision. The claim involves only a determination of what the IRP decision stated, whether it was mandatory, and if so, whether ICANN complied. These issues do not directly involve ZACR, and the determination of these issues do not necessarily impact ZACR's current status with respect to its application. As such, the Court finds that ZACR does not possess a significant protectable interest satus with respect to its application. As such, the inquiry of intervention as a right ends with respect to this claim.

Regarding the third requirement as it applies to the Tenth Claim, ZACR's interest would be impaired or impeded if ZACR is not permitted to intervene. Resolution of the Tenth Claim in favor of DCA would extinguish any purported rights granted to ZACR under the Registry Agreement.

Regarding the final requirement, to determine whether adequate representation exists, courts consider (1) whether the parties will undoubtedly make all of the intervenor's arguments; (2) whether they are capable of and willing to make such arguments; and (3) whether the intervenor would add some necessary element to the suit that would be otherwise neglected. *California v. Tahoe Reg'l Planning Agency*, 792 F.2d 775, 778 (9th Cir. 1986).

The applicant-intervenor's burden in showing that its interest is not adequately represented is minimal, and "is satisfied if the applicant shows that representation of [its] interest 'may be'

Case 2:16-cv-00862-RGK-JC Document 140 Filed 10/19/16 Page 4 of 5 Page ID #:5643

inadequate." *Trbovich v. UMW*, 404 U.S. 528, 538 n.10 (1972); *California v. Tahoe Reg'l Planning Agency*, 792 F.2d 775, 778 (9th Cir. 1986). However, "[w]hen an applicant for intervention and an existing party have the same ultimate objective, a presumption of adequacy of representation arises. In such a case a compelling showing is required to demonstrate inadequate representation." *Arakaki v. Cayetano*, 324 F.3d 1078, 1086 (9th Cir. 2003).

ZACR and ICANN both argue that ICANN engaged in no wrongdoing and properly determined that ZACR is the appropriate party for delegation of .Africa. However, their interests are not directly aligned and they do not have the same ultimate objective. ICANN's interest in the litigation is related to its role as the nonprofit organization responsible for assigning rights to Generic Top-level Domains, and stems from defending the integrity of its application process. In contrast, ZACR's interest is as an applicant and is limited to not disrupting ICANN's delegation of .Africa to ZACR. As such, ZACR need only show that ICANN's representation *may be* inadequate. It has done so. Furthermore, ZACR's perspective as a South African nonprofit company differs materially from that of ICANN, a California nonprofit corporation, as such, ZACR may make new and additional arguments that are specific to ZACR, which ICANN may not be situated to make. The Court finds that ZACR has satisfied its burden of showing that its interest may not be adequately represented by ICANN.

Therefore, ZACR is entitled to intervene as to the Tenth Claim as a matter of right. As to the Ninth Claim, the Court in its discretion denies ZACR's request for permissive intervention.

B. <u>Subject Matter Jurisdiction</u>

Finding that ZACR is entitled to intervene as a matter of right, the Court now turns to determining whether there is subject matter jurisdiction over the parties. *See Allstate Ins. Co. v. Hughes*, 358 F.3d 1089, 1093 (9th Cir. 2004) (stating that "[t]he court has a continuing obligation to assess its own subject-matter jurisdiction, even if the issue is neglected by the parties.")

"Ordinarily, when removal is proper at the outset, federal jurisdiction is not defeated by later changes or developments in the suit. But . . . an exception to this rule [is] when an indispensable party would destroy diversity." *Takeda v. Nw. Nat'l Life Ins. Co.*, 765 F.2d 815, 819 (9th Cir. 1985). This exception applies when a nondiverse indispensable party intervenes as a matter of right under Fed. R. Civ. P. 24(a)(2). *See Mattel, Inc. v. Bryant*, 446 F.3d 1011, 1013–14 (9th Cir. 2006).

Here, the exception is significant because Plaintiff DCA and Intervenor-Defendant ZACR are both foreign citizens. *See Cheng v. Boeing Co.*, 708 F.2d 1406, 1412 (9th Cir. 1983) (holding "[d]iversity jurisdiction does not encompass foreign plaintiffs suing foreign defendants"); *Faysound, Ltd. v. United Coconut Chems., Inc.*, 878 F.2d 290, 294–95 (9th Cir. 1989) (holding the presence of citizen defendant does not save diversity jurisdiction as to alien co-defendant in action brought by alien plaintiff because diversity must be complete); *Nike, Inc. v. Comercial Iberica De Exclusivas Deportivas, S.A.*, 20 F.3d 987, 991 (9th Cir. 1994). As the Court has already found that ZACR is entitled to intervene as a matter of right, if ZACR is considered an indispensable party, ZACR's presence would destroy complete diversity.

"A party is indispensable if in 'equity and good conscience,' the court should not allow the action to proceed in its absence." *Dawavendewa v. Salt River Project Agric. Improvement & Power Dist.*, 276 F.3d 1150, 1161 (9th Cir. 2002); *see also Mattel, Inc.*, at 1013. Fed. R. Civ. P. 19(b). In the Ninth Circuit, it is well-established that "in an action to set aside a lease or a *contract*, all parties who may be affected by the determination of the action are indispensable." *Lomayaktewa v. Hathaway*, 520 F.2d 1324, 1325 (9th Cir. 1975)(emphasis added); *see Dawavendewa* at 1157 (reaffirming "the fundamental principle outlined in *Lomayaktewa*: a party to a contract is necessary, and if not susceptible to joinder, indispensable to litigation seeking to decimate that contract"); *Northrop Corp. v. McDonnell Douglas*

Case 2:16-cv-00862-RGK-JC Document 140 Filed 10/19/16 Page 5 of 5 Page ID #:5644

Corp., 705 F.2d 1030, 1044 (9th Cir. 1983) (stating that there is a correlative rule that all parties who may be affected by a suit to set aside a contract must be present). Furthermore, when applying the 19(b) factors to the specific facts of this case, the Court finds that the same general rule applies.

Therefore, the Court finds that ZACR is an indispensable party. As a nondiverse, indispensable party, ZACR destroys diversity jurisdiction, and remand of this action to state court is proper.

VI. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

For the foregoing reasons, the Court **GRANTS** ZACR's Motion to Intervene as a matter of right as to the Tenth Claim. The Court denies ZACR's motion as to the Ninth Claim. Because the Court finds that Intervenor-Defendant ZACR is an indispensable party that is not diverse from Plaintiff DCA, the Court **REMANDS** this case for lack of subject matter jurisdiction.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

_____<u>:</u>____

Initials of Preparer